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          ‘Remember who you are, what you are, and who you represent!’
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  PROLOGUE




  David Rocastle first infiltrated my consciousness on Saturday, 26 November 1988.




  As a seven-year-old, my morning had begun like thousands of others’ my age. With a milky bowl of Coco Pops balanced on my lap, and wearing my beloved He-Man pyjamas, I sat cross-legged in

  front of the television, watching my favourite cartoon, Bananaman, which was swiftly followed by the side-splitting comedy of the Chuckle Brothers. At 9am I then settled into the meat of

  children’s Saturday morning television, Going Live!, presented by Phillip Schofield and Sarah Greene.




  While I marvelled at a feature on how the new movie Who Framed Roger Rabbit had been made, I was soon bored when the bands of the moment, a-ha and Bros, were being interviewed. I was also

  confused at why rich pop stars, such as Matt and Luke Goss, were wearing ripped jeans. Surely they could afford new ones?




  With my interest in the morning’s television swiftly waning, and me no doubt driving my parents to despair, my father suggested we visit Pentwyn Leisure Centre, Cardiff’s latest

  public swimming pool, which had a wave machine. Nothing could have been more enticing to a child in the 1980s.




  So, wearing my sky blue Speedos, with swimming badges sewn on the front, I happily spent the next few hours being tossed among the waves, yet was also frustrated to be told I was too small to go

  on the big slide, and instead had to make do with the children’s dinosaur version. Nevertheless, eating a burger and chips in the humid canteen afterwards certainly lessened the blow.




  However, I had learnt that by midday on a Saturday we had to be home, or at the very least in front of a TV. After all, this was the one time of the week when my father, and thousands like him,

  could get their sport fix. While the likes of Grandstand were always of interest, providing a curious mix of snooker, rugby, rally driving and show jumping, it was Saint and Greavsie

  that my father adored.




  Presented by former Liverpool star Ian St John and his sidekick, Spurs and England legend Jimmy Greaves, the double act were seen as beacons of light in 1980s football programming. In those

  pre-Sky days, football fans were fortunate if there was one match a week on TV, so this one hour of highlights, interviews and Greavsie wisecracks was essential viewing.




  Although I was only seven, I had already been raised as a football fan, albeit a supporter of Cardiff City, who were then playing in the old third division. Such a standard was light years away

  from the glamour of the top flight, which dominated the likes of Saint and Greavsie, but it was my first taste of football, and I loved it.




  The records show that the previous evening Cardiff had played Brentford at Ninian Park, where, in front of 3,405 fans, my beloved Bluebirds triumphed 1-0. I have no recollection of the game

  itself but, despite the club’s crumbling facilities, the outbreaks of hooliganism and the long-ball football, the players on display were my heroes. Of that particular vintage, the most

  recognisable was Steve ‘Lethal’ Lynex, who had signed from West Brom via Leicester City, and had a reputation purely because he had played up front with Gary Lineker for the Foxes.

  While Cardiff fans soon learnt that he wasn’t exactly ‘lethal’, just having a connection to the stardust of the first division seemed impossibly glamorous.




  In any event, while I can’t recall the events at Ninian Park, the highlights from that weekend’s Saint and Greavsie are seared into my memory. As always, to make sure I was

  suitably entertained during this one hour of hallowed time, my father had bought me a pack of Garbage Pail Kids stickers, which also had the added bonus of a chalky stick of chewing gum. As the

  hard gum cracked in my mouth, and I sorted through the latest stickers to add to my collection, I occasionally glanced up at the television, which showed highlights of the previous week’s

  action.




  At the time Arsenal, Liverpool and Norwich were engaged in a three-way battle for the title, and as such much of the coverage was devoted to Liverpool’s victory at Loftus Road and

  Norwich’s draw at Goodison Park. However, as the footage moved on to cover Arsenal’s match against Middlesbrough, Ian St John told the viewers that such was the strength of the Arsenal

  team that five of their players had represented England just a few days previously. Such a comment saw me lift my head and give the television my full attention.




  Watching on, I saw footage of a young Paul Merson score the opening two goals but it was the third, and final, goal of the game that made my eyes widen. On a soggy, and uneven, Highbury pitch,

  and under the glare of the floodlights, I saw Arsenal’s number 7 receive the ball on the right-hand side, around 40 yards from goal. Crisply controlling the ball with his left foot, he jinked

  to the right before snapping back to his left, breezing past the outstretched boot of his opponent. Setting off towards goal, using the outside of his right foot, he was immediately faced with

  another defender straight in front of him. In a flash, the Arsenal player stepped over the ball, moving to his right and then pushing off with the ball to his left. It was a trick I had never seen

  before, and if I had it had certainly never been executed as thrillingly as this.




  Putting down my stickers, and momentarily stopping chewing my gum, I was transfixed as the Arsenal player beat another opponent with an explosive spurt, finding himself on the edge of the

  penalty area. Feinting one way, and then the other, he now deceived three defenders to make himself some space. After so much skill, and subtlety, the player now proceeded to strike his laces

  through the ball, which saw it scythe with vicious certainty through the gap, crash against the right-hand post and into the top corner.




  With the crowd roaring its approval, the Arsenal player turned around, both hands in the air, beaming a wide smile, as the commentator breathlessly proclaimed that the man responsible for such

  heroics was called David Rocastle. I had never heard the name before but it was one I would not forget, although I would soon come to know him by another name – ‘Rocky’. Unable to

  rewind the goal, or to find it anywhere else on TV, I could not work out how Rocastle had beaten a defender merely by stepping over a ball. Neither could my father. In the back garden, he tried to

  show me with a plastic football but it didn’t look quite the same.




  While I remained a devoted Cardiff City fan, the name of David Rocastle was one that from that moment onwards I always looked out for. In subsequent years, he proved that that moment of

  individual brilliance was far from a one-off, with breathtaking displays of virtuosity at Villa Park, Anfield and Old Trafford among many others. Starring for England, and still in his early

  twenties, it appeared that he was destined to become one of the game’s biggest names.




  When he moved to champions Leeds United in 1992 most football fans, including myself, wondered why Arsenal would contemplate selling one of their best players to a rival. Nevertheless, it seemed

  a good move for Rocastle, and would surely cement his standing in the game. However, from that moment on, his career was never quite the same. Swifly moving to Manchester City, and then Chelsea, he

  struggled for game time and, at the age of 29, ended up on loan at fourth division Hull City. By his 30th birthday he couldn’t even find a club in Britain that was willing to take him on.

  Seemingly outcast, he was forced to move to Malaysia to continue his career.




  Rumours were rife regarding Rocastle’s perceived fall from grace. Drugs, bust-ups, poor attitude and bad diet were all floated around with no substance whatsoever. Yet there must have been

  some reason for the total collapse of his career.




  By 2001 I was studying law at Brunel University and enjoying playing Saturday football on the muddy pitches of west London. After a match in Hayes, I remember walking off the pitch to hear

  someone from the touchline say, ‘Did you know David Rocastle has died?’ I must confess that at the time I wasn’t even aware that he had been unwell, so this news came as a massive

  shock. How could the lightning-quick winger, with the beaming smile, be dead at just 33 years of age?




  Over the previous years Rocastle had somewhat slipped from public consciousness, as well as my own. Spending his last few years playing football in Malaysia, his glory days were long behind him

  and he was certainly never someone who actively courted publicity.




  Yet I felt a real tinge of sadness when I heard about his death. It was the first time one of my childhood heroes had died. I almost felt guilty that, after his career had fizzled out, I had not

  continued to follow him. It seemed almost traitorous that I had enjoyed the good times but then as things had taken a turn for the worse I had abanonded him in my mind, and moved on to the likes of

  Gazza, Cantona, Shearer and Henry.




  While the newspaper obituaries told of a gentle soul with a thrilling talent for football, the reasons for Rocastle’s career drifting away were frustratingly vague. No one, it seemed,

  could really put their finger on how a double title winner and England star could have seen his best years behind him by his mid-twenties. Over the years I eagerly read any interview with anyone

  connected to Rocastle, hoping for some insight into the reason for this, but again no one seemed to have the definitive answer – or if they did, they were unwilling to reveal it. When I

  became a writer, I suddenly realised that I now had an incredible opportunity to answer this very question once and for all.




  So, with the aid of family, team-mates, managers, coaches, physios, friends and fans, I have not only tried to shed light on Rocastle’s career, but also to pay homage to a gentleman and a

  brilliant footballer, who made a seven-year-old run into his back garden with his father and try to emulate his skill with a plastic football. I could never master the Rocastle stepover, not many

  could, but I hope that at the very least I have done him justice with this book.




  





  
CHAPTER 1




  THE SUMMER OF 1989




  The front cover of the 19 August 1989 issue of Melody Maker was dominated by the band Tears for Fears, who were on the verge of releasing a much-anticipated new album.

  Inside the now defunct music paper, there was also high praise for the Stone Roses’ epic gig at the Empress Ballroom in Blackpool, a glowing review of the forthcoming Batman movie, as

  well as withering assessments of the new offerings from the likes of Bon Jovi and Madonna. And if there is any concern at the state of music today, the number one single for that week was the

  monstrosity that was ‘Swing the Mood’ by Jive Bunny and the Mastermixers.




  Amid all of this, there were also other nods to a now bygone age. Adverts for blank Memorex video and tape cassettes at Woolworths occupied the centre pages, while the Audioline 950 answering

  machine was apparently the ‘Talk of the Future’. The supermarket Safeway made an appearance, as did Midland Bank, where you could apply for a student bank account merely by completing a

  form and posting it.




  Yet one of the main features in this arbiter of cool was an interview with Arsenal star David Rocastle. It was rare to find a footballer in such a place in a decade when

  the sport was renowned for hooliganism, racism, high shorts and mullets. But Rocastle was far from your average footballer. To many he was seen as the perfect ambassador for a game that had so

  tragically lost its way.




  Throughout the 1980s football had had to contend with a succession of disasters. In 1985 alone there was the Bradford fire, swiftly followed by the deaths of 39 fans at Heysel. Then, in April

  1989, came the game’s nadir, when 96 football fans lost their lives at Hillsborough during an FA Cup semi-final clash between Liverpool and Nottingham Forest.




  As the game faced the summer of 1989 in the midst of depression, David Rocastle was one player who was a rare ray of light. Well mannered, with clean-cut good looks and a warm smile,

  Arsenal’s flying winger was also a champion, having just helped his team to their first title win since 1971, which came courtesy of Michael Thomas’ last-minute clincher at Anfield.




  Such was Rocastle’s status at this time that Melody Maker, a publication that usually shied away from football, had not only devoted a double-page spread to an interview with the

  man of the moment, but had even invited him to write a weekly column, in which he could answer readers’ questions about music. Alongside an article entitled ‘How are we going to get rid

  of Jason Donovan?’, Rocastle gave advice on how to get hold of Skinny Puppy’s first album, while he also told a new band that to achieve the success they craved, ‘all it takes is

  hard work and dedication – hold your head up high until the end of the day, and above all, be yourself’. Such words could easily have been spoken in the changing room at Highbury.




  Yet it is in the main interview that we get a real sense of the exalted heights the 22-year-old had reached in the summer of 1989. Writer John Wilde states that Rocastle can ‘often be

  mistaken for genius’ and is ‘the only player guaranteed to dazzle on a Saturday afternoon’. While Rocastle typically bats such praise aside, focusing on the

  team and the job he is happy to do for it, Wilde is adamant that he is a rare talent who must be cherished in such depressing times.




  Touting the Arsenal star for a big-money move abroad, as the domestic game struggled to come to grips with the scourge of hooliganism and racism, Wilde wrote: ‘The modern English game does

  not deserve a player as potentially great as David Rocastle. Over here, if he remains, Rocastle will never be great. Eventually, they will all be gone, every last craftsman. Maybe then the English

  game will take a good hard look at itself and wonder where it all went wrong. In the meantime, David Rocastle looks forward to another season of stifling English football while we dream of greater

  days.’




  It was just three months since Arsenal had thrillingly won the first division title at Anfield, but, as evidenced in Melody Maker, Rocastle had become a star. On the Sunday following

  Arsenal’s title win, over 250,000 people had lined the streets to herald the champions’ double-decker bus, which crawled towards a civic reception at Islington town hall. It seemed that

  wherever there was a pavement, ledge or lamppost, someone clad in red and white was hanging from it.




  Rocastle, with his arms around his great friend and hero of the hour, Michael Thomas, had received a particularly loud roar, especially at the town hall, where he danced a jig of delight on the

  terrace. ‘The parade, going on the open-top bus, is one of my best memories,’ Rocastle later happily reminisced.




  Just days after these tremendous scenes, he had starred for England, setting up a goal in a 3-0 win against Poland. The game was just the second capacity crowd at Wembley during Bobby

  Robson’s nine-year tenure as manager. No doubt the thrilling scenes at Anfield had encouraged many fans to cheer on the chief protagonists from both teams, with Rocastle

  one of the main attractions.




  Inundated with requests for personal appearances and sponsorship opportunities, as well as to help with various charities and causes, Rocastle spent much of the summer in a whirlwind. One such

  letter saw him visit a four-year-old boy in hospital, who was suffering from leukaemia. While he did not expect the little boy to know who he was, he went along in the hope that it might provide

  some comfort to his family. But as Rocastle later revealed, ‘He was lying in the bed covered in Arsenal scarves and he knew everything. His mum said, “Sebastian, look who it is,”

  and he turned around and said, “Rocky!” It broke my heart.’ Sitting on the little boy’s bed, Rocastle was not only happy to answer any questions he had but also spent the

  next two hours watching a video of the title-winning game at Anfield.




  Being recognised by a little boy was one thing, but Rocastle soon found it hard to leave his front door, such was his popularity. His brother Sean remembers him going shopping with their mother,

  and it taking him three hours to leave the supermarket as he signed everyone’s slips of paper. Jerome Anderson, his agent, also recalls seeing his client outside his offices, in the pouring

  rain, happily chatting with fans and signing autographs until everyone was satisfied.




  With his new-found fame, Rocastle was asked to help out those who had helped him along the way. When he had attended college, during his apprentice days at Arsenal, he had been taught by a lady

  called Kate Hoey, who had also been happy to give the aspiring Gunner lifts back home to Brockley, rather than see him take public transport in the rain. Rocastle never forgot her kindness and as

  such, when she needed him, he was only too ready to help.




  Just days after the Islington civic reception, Hoey was due to contest the Vauxhall by-election for the Labour Party. It would be her first foray into politics, which would

  eventually culminate in her serving as Minister for Sport under Tony Blair. Having close links to many of the title-winning Arsenal team, Hoey reached out to match-winner Michael Thomas and star

  player David Rocastle, who were seen as leading figures in the black community and would therefore be valuable additions to her campaign




  Rocastle was never a keen follower of politics but he was more than happy to assist Hoey, whom he counted as an old friend. There were certainly no speeches made by either Arsenal player, both

  of whom preferred to escape the limelight, but their mere presence, handshakes, smiles and willingness to talk about ‘that’ game as they handed out leaflets in Vauxhall proved

  invaluable. Unsurprisingly, with two stars heralding her, along with a socially conscious manifesto, Kate Hoey was elected to parliament as MP for Vauxhall, a position she retains to this day.




  Having devoted much of his spare time to matters off the pitch, Rocastle was soon back to the serious business of preparing for the season ahead. Seen by many as the acceptable face of football,

  he would soon have to contend with an issue that continued to blight the game.




  Following a pre-season tour of Sweden, after which Arsenal had beaten Liverpool in the annual Makita tournament at Wembley, the squad flew to Miami for a friendly with Argentinian champions

  Independiente. With the game being broadcast around the world, it was an opportunity for Arsenal, and Rocastle, to show an international audience what they were all about. But it also gave rise to

  some diplomatic issues.




  Club captain Tony Adams revealed in his autobiography, Addicted, that, ‘before the game I was asked to carry out the Argentinian flag and I agreed, until David O’Leary pointed

  out that there had been many British casualties during the Falklands War in the not-too-distant past and it would be disrespectful to them and their families to carry the

  flag. Back home it might also have caused a row since it was being televised live. David was right and I quickly told the organisers that I would only carry the British flag.’




  While Adams had avoided a diplomatic incident before the game, the Argentinians seemed intent on causing one during it. To Rocastle’s amazement, straight from kick-off he was met by a

  torrent of racist abuse, ranging from being called a ‘nigger’ to his opponents making monkey noises in his ear. With the temperature reaching over 100°F in the midday sun, some

  might have forgiven him for losing his cool. It seemed that the Argentineans had learnt racist taunts in English just for the occasion.




  Incredibly, Rocastle managed to avoid rising to the bait, using the provocation as fuel to ram it back down their throats. Scoring two goals to help Arsenal win the game 2-1, he proceeded to

  shake hands with each of his opponents and give them a wink and a smile. As had so often been the case, his feet had done the talking for him. ‘You had to be calm and collected,’ he

  later said. ‘They were doing it for a reason. At the end of the day, it’s only words anyway.’




  With yet more bigots thwarted by his ingenuity, aggressive pride and wide smile, he prepared to fly back to London to defend the first division title.




  Sadly, for Rocastle’s parents, and thousands of Caribbean immigrants like them, supreme skill on the football pitch wasn’t enough to help them quell the tide of racism they faced . .

  .




  





  
CHAPTER 2




  A TROUBLED START




  Until her dying day, Linda Rocastle would tell the story of how a gypsy woman had predicted her first-born son would be famous. And nearly 22 years to the day before

  Arsenal’s Anfield triumph, David Carlyle Rocastle was born on 2 May 1967, in the London Borough of Lewisham.




  By this time Linda and her husband, Leslie, had been living in London for just over a decade. Like thousands of other immigrants, they had arrived in Britain in the late 1950s, enticed by the

  opportunity of an exciting and prosperous new life. The Second World War had robbed the country of many of its young men, and with much of its infrastructure destroyed, many politicians advocated

  inviting young men from Commonwealth countries to help carry out the urgent rebuilding work. But not everyone was on board.




  A group of Labour MPs were so incensed by this plan that they wrote to Prime Minister Clement Attlee and told him that ‘an influx of coloured people domiciled here is likely to impair

  harmony, strength and cohesion of our public and social life’. Rising above their protests, Attlee proceeded to pass the 1948 Nationality Act, which granted colonial

  subjects the same rights as those born in the UK, providing them with free movement to the country in the process.




  Soon after, newspapers in Commonwealth countries splashed colourful adverts across their centre pages, promising an exotic new life in post-war Britain, where wages were high and jobs plentiful,

  with many excitedly claiming that the streets of London were paved with gold. Such adverts, and the relatively cheap boat fare, enticed 492 passengers to board the Empire Windrush in

  Kingston, Jamaica, and set sail for a bright new future.




  Thousands more were to follow those on the Windrush, with the non-white population of the UK soaring from 30,000 in 1948 to 500,000 by 1962. Sadly, many did not find the paradise they had

  been promised. Battling the wet and cold weather, they also had to contend with a groundswell of resentment. It wasn’t just the casual racist remarks, with insults such as ‘wog’

  and ‘nigger’ being freely bandied about, but they also had to face the overtly hostile boarding-house notices that proclaimed, ‘No Dogs. No Irish. No Blacks.’ The upshot was

  that immigrants were often forced to live in houses that most British families would have deemed unfit for human habitation. Unsurprisingly, as unrest festered, violence soon exploded on

  Britain’s streets.




  With the likes of politician Oswald Mosley actively encouraging discrimination, the nation’s Teddy Boys, freed from the chains of national service, sought to carry out his ill-feeling

  against the Caribbean community. As packs of white hooligans set off ‘nigger hunting’ through places such as Notting Hill, there was also a riot in Nottingham when a black man was

  caught kissing a white woman. Trying to contain a potentially volatile situation, and with over 130,000 immigrants arriving in 1961 alone, the government, in its wisdom, passed the Commonwealth

  Immigrants Act, which made it far more difficult for members of the Commonwealth to become British citizens.




  By this stage Linda and Leslie Rocastle were already living and working in the UK. Leslie had emigrated from Grenada in the late 1950s and had initially lived with his aunt, where he had planned

  to continue his education. Yet he soon found the lure of earning money impossible to resist. Rather than hit the books, he began working in a series of local factories before training to become a

  toolmaker. Linda, meanwhile, had emigrated from Trinidad when she was 21. Training to become a nurse, she eventually found work in Greenwich Hospital, where she worked long hours for little

  pay.




  Both Linda and Leslie were proud, hard workers. Never living off the state. Never causing any trouble. They were like thousands of other immigrants who simply wanted to make a better life for

  themselves.




  Introduced by mutual friends at a house party, the pair found they had plenty in common. Gentle and friendly souls, they also shared a passion for music. Fans of ska, reggae and calypso, Linda

  and Leslie would often be found in the local clubs laughing and dancing to the sounds of Symarip, and Dave and Ansell Collins.




  Within a year Linda gave birth to their first son, David, which led to Leslie proposing. After a small wedding ceremony, the new Rocastle family moved to the Honor Oak housing estate in

  Brockley, Lewisham, where many in the West Indian community had already gravitated due to its proximity to the hundreds of factories and docks that skirted the area. Colourful and vibrant, the

  sights, smells and sounds were often reminiscent of towns in the West Indies, rather than the capital of England, which helped to cultivate a relaxed and friendly atmosphere.




  Moving into a third-floor flat at 10 Dale House, which was situated above a row of shops, the Rocastles initially had plenty of room. Boasting three bedrooms, a kitchen, a toilet and a bathroom,

  it was far from luxurious but compared to the conditions a lot of black families had to endure it was more than adequate. Indeed, the young David Rocastle even found himself

  lucky enough to have his own room, a rare luxury for a child in Brockley.




  Over the next five years the Rocastle family swiftly grew, with Karen, Cynthia and Steve all added by 1971. Linda and Leslie worked all hours to feed and clothe their children, yet everyone

  recalls feeling happy and loved. The house-proud Linda frequently conjured up Caribbean-inspired dishes, such as chicken, rice and peas, while Leslie would always ensure that the record player was

  playing the latest reggae and calypso music. Sociable and generous, the Rocastles were always eager to host friends and family, and many recall Leslie and Linda showing off their dance moves in the

  living room together.




  But with the family happily settled, the Rocastles were devastated in 1972, when Leslie was diagnosed with cancer. ‘When he had worked in a factory he had been told to wear a mask, but Dad

  refused as he thought it made him look ugly,’ Karen Rocastle told me. ‘We think that might have been the cause of his illness, as he would have got stuff like asbestos in his

  lungs.’ However, Karen also concedes that the fact he was a heavy smoker might have contributed to his illness. ‘My mum used to say you could hear him coming before you saw him because

  of his cough.’




  Despite his diagnosis, Leslie was told that his condition was treatable. As he was young and fit, it was thought an operation would see him make a full recovery. Sadly, it was not to be.

  ‘My father died in front of me,’ Rocastle later said. ‘We were all in the house watching TV together and Mum, a nurse, was getting ready to go to work. Dad jumped up trying to

  open a window and suddenly lost all of his strength and collapsed.’




  Tragically, other than his death, the Rocastle children don’t have any other real memories of their father. ‘People used to tell me how lovely my father

  was,’ Rocastle said, ‘but it was a bit difficult because I didn’t really understand what they were talking about.’




  Suddenly, Linda Rocastle was faced with raising four young children alone, while also trying to hold down a job as a nurse. It seemed an impossible situation.




  ‘Just after my dad’s funeral, there was a knock at the door,’ Karen remembered. ‘It was someone from the social services. They told her, “You’re a young

  woman. Let us take your children into care.” My mum told me that was the only time she ever cursed at a stranger. She told the woman, “F*** off, and leave me and my children to grieve

  in peace.”’




  Thankfully, with the help of the extended Rocastle family, the children were never taken into care. Quitting her job as a nurse, Linda took a position on the shop floor at C&A, which offered

  more sociable hours, while the children spent their days at her mother’s in nearby Murillo Road.




  Also living on the street was Rocastle’s future brother-in-law, Junior Hamilton, who remembers the time fondly: ‘Everyone was always out playing football or cricket. Even the older

  guys would stay out with the kids to play. There were a lot of windows that were broken because of a stray ball. It was great because so many West Indian families lived on the road you could smell

  what everyone was cooking, which was usually the same. It became a joke that you could smell it was a Monday because that was chicken, rice and peas night.’




  But while Rocastle loved his time on Murillo Road, as the eldest child he couldn’t always enjoy the frivolities of youth. ‘The earliest memories I’ve got is looking after my

  little sisters and brothers,’ he later confessed.




  At just five years old he had had to grow up fast. Helping with the washing and cleaning, he also fed and clothed his siblings. If his mother was ever short of anything,

  he would race down the three flights of stairs to the convenience store, Amy’s, where the owners knew him well. And on those nights when Linda was too tired to cook, Rocastle would be happy

  to go to the chip shop.




  ‘He was the best ever,’ Karen told me. ‘He was always calm, and he always knew what to do, even though he was only young.’




  Mature beyond his years, Rocastle was the man of the house, rising above petty squabbles with the air of someone who had seen it all before. Such was Rocastle’s standing in the house that,

  as he grew older, Linda would even look to him to make decisions about his siblings.




  ‘Whatever Dave said went,’ Karen laughed. ‘If one of us would ask Mum if we could go down the youth club or something, she might say yes, but then Dave would come in and say,

  “Where do you think you’re going?” and we’d say, “The youth club,” and he’d say, “No you’re not.” And Dave’s word stood. Mum always

  listened to him.’




  Initially daunted by the responsibility of looking after his three siblings, Rocastle gradually realised it could work to his advantage. As he reached his teens he was the one now dominating the

  TV and record player, the Rocastle children would have to watch and listen to whatever he deemed fit. Usually this would be episodes of Mork & Mindy or Empire Road, while his

  musical taste ranged from lovers rock to soul. However, Karen recalls that he was also partial to a bit of Tom Jones, and from time to time he would even bring out a plastic guitar and try to

  emulate his hero’s hip-thrusting moves to the cheers of his Auntie Irene!




  Before long, Rocastle became known to his brother and sisters as a ‘slave driver’. Steve made him cups of tea, Cynthia ironed his clothes, and Karen would be sent down to the shops

  to buy him sweets. ‘He used to love his sweets,’ Karen remembers. ‘He loved Twixes and Kit Kats and used to hide them under his bed. You’d watch him

  eat a Twix and he’d bite off all the chocolate first, then the caramel, then he’d eat the biscuit. He enjoyed it so much.’ In years to come, Arsenal and England team-mates would

  also recall Rocastle’s sweet tooth, when he’d be hiding chocolate from his managers instead of from his mother.




  Despite all of these demands, Karen never complained: ‘I think we got it from my mum. It’s an old-school Caribbean thing where you are expected to look after the men in your

  life.’




  Yet while Linda relied on her eldest son, there was a short period of time when he moved out. His cousin Lennox, wanting a break from his seven sisters, went to live with their grandmother, and

  Rocastle decided to join him. Although Linda felt that it was important her son be allowed to have a certain amount of freedom, she had to resort to buying him a fish tank and a Chopper bicycle to

  lure him home.




  There were times when life could be tough but Rocastle was always quick to make light of any grim situation. ‘We didn’t have any heating in the flat,’ Karen remembered.

  ‘So, whenever I wanted to keep my hands warm I would have to turn on the gas on the stove. Dave saw me one time warming my hands and nicknamed me “Witchy” because he said I looked

  like a witch with her hands over a cauldron. That name stuck for years.’




  While Karen was known as Witchy, Rocastle was also given various nicknames by his mum and aunties. ‘They used to call him “Coobiejay”,’ Karen told me, with a grin on her

  face, not having any idea why.




  Despite the many responsibilities on his young shoulders, his childhood certainly wasn’t devoid of fun. At the back of Dale House, in the so-called ‘Quad’, the Rocastle

  children could often be found playing with their friends for hours on end. Overseeing them, Linda and the other mothers would sit on the balcony and chat. In a sign of more carefree times, most

  families left their doors open, which saw the children rush in and out, and helped to foster a real community spirit.




  The nearby Honor Oak sports ground, a large expanse of playing fields, and the adjoining cemetery gardens, known to the Rocastles as ‘the crem’, was frequently packed with young boys

  and girls playing, while just down the road was the Honor Oak Youth Club, which used to organise trips to the seaside to places such as Margate and Hastings during the summer holidays, a rare treat

  in the days before cheap air travel.




  Across from the youth club there was the Honor Oak Adventure Playground, which had been lovingly put together over the years by a man known as Jumbo, a carpenter by trade. It was an impressive

  spectacle of wooden forts and ropes, and Karen Rocastle told me that it was a place her brother loved. ‘He was fearless,’ she laughed. ‘He would jump from one place to the next

  without any thought of hurting himself.’ Such fearlessness would, of course, become a trait he was renowned for on the football pitch in years to come.




  While the Rocastles enjoyed a relatively happy childhood, they were fortunate in that they escaped the many outbreaks of racial tension that were marking the country. In 1974, the National Front

  achieved a remarkable 11.5 per cent of the vote in a Newham by-election, and soon after sought to march through Lewisham itself. They were only prevented from doing so after running battles with

  the police, which saw 56 officers hospitalised. Such was the ferocity of the attack, with police separating the National Front from local black youths determined to guard their manor, that riot

  shields were used for the first time in the UK outside of Northern Ireland.




  ‘There was never really any racism in the area,’ Karen told me. ‘It was just a lovely place, where everyone seemed to get along and look out for one another.’ However,

  her husband, Junior Hamilton, recalled that there was a reason why those in Brockley were sheltered from such matters. ‘You rarely ventured too far from home,’ he

  said. ‘There were some places that you knew you couldn’t go as a black man. Back then you’d never go to Kidbrooke or Eltham or places like that.’




  Safe within the confines of his community, and looking after his siblings, Rocastle admitted that with so many responsibilities there was one thing he did miss out on. ‘Because I was

  helping Mum with the kids I didn’t get involved in football at an early age.’




  Even though he didn’t play organised football as a child, Karen remembers that her brother was nevertheless kicking a ball from a young age. ‘Even before he could properly walk I

  think he was trying to kick things,’ she recalled. ‘My mum used to have a fruit bowl on the dining table with plastic fruits in there, and Dave would take them out and kick them along

  the passages of the flat.’




  As his brother Steve grew, Rocastle soon had someone to play with. Using the sofas at either end of the living room as goals they would play for hours. However, their games would frequently

  result in broken glass or tantrums, with Rocastle hating to lose and demanding a rematch whenever he did.




  With his interest in the game growing, a new addition to the Rocastle family would soon help him devote more time to it. A few years after Leslie’s death, Linda met a bus driver from

  Barbados called Theodore Medford. It was a relationship that would endure until her dying day and would in time produce a son called Sean, who Rocastle affectionately nicknamed

  ‘Eggy’.




  The man the Rocastle children called ‘Med’ never actually moved into the family flat but Karen told me that he was a ‘very positive role model’. Indeed, Sean said,

  ‘David thought he was a saviour at the time. He helped Mum. He helped the whole family a lot.’




  It seems that his calm, cheerful personality, without any parental demands, was exactly what the Rocastle children needed at a turbulent time in their lives. Such was the

  respect that Rocastle had for Medford that in later years, when he was making a video about his life, he told the producers that they weren’t to call him his stepdad. He was always to be

  referred to as Dad, while Sean was always his brother.




  With Medford helping to look after the family, and Rocastle by now a pupil at Turnham Primary School, the stage was soon set for his passion for football to be ignited.




  





  
CHAPTER 3




  A BRUSH WITH DEATH




  The sound and colours of the Millwall fans bled into a swirling kaleidoscope, turning their chants and insults into a blur. Caught up in the game, David Rocastle had by now

  learnt to block out the unrelenting wave of Neanderthal inanity that continually rolled down from the terraces. With his muddy shorts hitched high over his muscular thighs, he instead hugged the

  touchline, screaming at Michael Thomas to find him, exhaling clouds of cold air in the November chill as he opened his mouth.




  However, if he had just taken a moment to turn five yards to his right, he would have been able to pick out the individual faces of pot-bellied skinheads behind the steel fences. Eyes popping,

  faces contorted with rage, they chanted loud and proud, ‘You black bastard! You black bastard!’ Children alongside them were encouraged to throw bananas on to the pitch, while even in

  the disabled section wheelchair-bound fans made monkey noises.




  Motoring up and down the right wing, Rocastle found his black boots and yellow jersey peppered with phlegm, as large sections of the crowd tried to make the case that the

  majestic winger was the uncivilised one. There was certainly no help from the stewards or the referee. This was par for the course. Get on with it or get out.




  Made of stern stuff, Rocastle instead concentrated on limiting the influence of Millwall’s Jimmy Carter, who had started to dominate the game. While Arsenal were 1-0 up, courtesy of

  Michael Thomas’ cool finish, they were continuing to show the signs of inconsistency that had already riddled their season as defending champions. A heavy loss away to Manchester United on

  the opening day of the season had been followed by a series of lacklustre performances, which had seen them drop as low as 17th in the league. Although there were brief reminders that the team

  could still be a force, such as a 5-0 win against Sheffield Wednesday and a dramatic 4-3 win against Norwich, this was still marred by a melee which led to a £20,000 fine and a warning about

  the team’s future conduct, which in time would have serious consequences




  Fully focused on gaining three much-needed points, Rocastle glanced across at Carter and lined him up. As Carter ran at fullback Lee Dixon, Rocastle set off, pounding across the mud, launching

  himself off the floor, aiming to take the ball and as much of Carter as possible. But the lunge was so wild that Rocastle missed Carter altogether, and instead his face collided with Dixon’s

  knee. Neck snapping back, his head thudded against the turf.




  Lying face down in the mud, the game continued around him, with the referee unaware of the severity of his injury. Not breathing, and slowly turning blue, Arsenal physio Gary Lewin frantically

  rushed on to the pitch to come to his aid.




  As the game finally came to a stop, Lewin pulled the unconscious Rocastle up and tried to dislodge his tongue, which was blocking his airway. All the while, Rocastle lay limp, not responding.

  Suddenly the players became aware that this might be serious and crowded around him. Despite the players’ concern, the crowd became restless at the break in play. The

  chant of ‘Let him die! Let him die! Let him die!’ suddenly rumbled off the terraces. Author and fan Nick Hornby, who was at the game, can remember the reaction vividly: ‘The

  atmosphere was just poison. It really was terrifying. Pure evil. He was being jeered at as he was apparently dying. I can remember thinking, “What am I doing here? Where is the fun in

  this?”’




  It seemed to take an age before a stuttering cough finally heralded Rocastle opening his eyes. With blurred vision he tried to regain his bearings, aided by the Millwall fans, who continued to

  give him little sympathy. Carried on a stretcher to the sidelines so that the game could restart, Lewin helped Rocastle to stand and tested all of his functions. Taking deep breaths, with the rabid

  fans just a metre away, Rocastle heard the full repertoire of south London’s most racist taunts.




  Many players might have decided that in such hostile surroundings, and after receiving such a nasty injury, being substituted was the easy, and excusable, way out. But despite still looking

  shaky on his feet, he bravely told Lewin that he was fine to continue. Moments later he was back on the pitch, running the gauntlet of hate, determined to help his team secure a valuable win. It

  was for his courage, as much as his skill, that Rocastle was such a valued member of the team.




  Most managers would have been happy with the subsequent 2-1 scoreline in Arsenal’s favour, but George Graham was not most managers. ‘The manner of the performance is the worrying

  thing,’ he told the press after the game. ‘It would be nice to see us at our best again.’ It was surely still a positive sign that, despite an indifferent start to the season, the

  win at Millwall saw the Gunners leapfrog their title rivals Liverpool into second place.




  The team may have been top of the league by December but it was clear that things were not running smoothly. Having lost to Oldham in the League Cup, four defeats in eight

  away games was also in direct contrast to the previous season, when they lost only three during the whole campaign. Scoring was also an issue, with striker Alan Smith going through a barren run

  that would result in just 10 league goals all season. However, he could blame the lack of service for such an average return. Not only was left-winger Brian Marwood out injured, but Rocastle seemed

  incapable of reproducing the scintillating form that had seen him break into the England starting line-up.




  With the World Cup on the horizon, Rocastle knew more than anyone just how vital it was that he picked up soon. Numerous rumours floated around, but Rocastle had his own theory about his dip in

  form. ‘Every time I get the ball, two or three players descend on me,’ he told the Arsenal match-day programme. ‘Other times, with Lee Dixon playing so well, I’ve just got

  out of the way and let him go charging forward!’




  Some newspapers, such as The Times, speculated that Rocastle, as well as Michael Thomas, ‘were showing signs of failing Arsenal through a lack of stamina’. Rocastle’s

  endeavour in training and work rate in games could certainly never be called into question, but, as he highlighted earlier in the season, the intensity of preseason may have taken its toll.




  The incident at Millwall was also continuing to have a detrimental effect on his mental state. Having confided that it was the ‘most frightening incident I’ve ever experienced on a

  football pitch’, many of those I spoke to told me that in their opinion he was never quite the same afterwards. To most it wasn’t noticeable, but it seemed to take a slight edge away

  from his game. Some suggested there was a slight hesitation where once he would have launched himself fearlessly into tackles.




  However, it appears that a long-standing knee injury was the primary cause of his discomfort. After having his cartilage removed four years previously, his knee was

  starting to swell after matches. The joint filled with fluid, which meant his range of movement became restricted. While ice and rest would see it settle down, the amount of training and games he

  faced often meant that there wasn’t enough recovery time to get it in optimum condition.




  Nevertheless, his poor form certainly hadn’t deterred his many suitors in the football world. On 7 January 1990, the People reported that Liverpool manager Kenny Dalglish was

  preparing a multimillion-pound move, as he was resigned to losing John Barnes in the summer. The Daily Mirror, meanwhile, believed that Dalglish was set to lose Barnes as well as Rocastle.

  Under the headline ‘Lira Lure For Big Two’, it claimed that AC Milan wanted to sign the two England stars for £12m, in a bid to replace Ruud Gullit, who had suffered a knee injury

  that threatened to end his career.




  Another intriguing story appeared in the Sunday Mirror. It reported that Monaco were interested in signing Rocastle for £4m, where he would join the English contingent of Glenn

  Hoddle and Mark Hateley. At the time the Monaco manager was a certain Arsène Wenger, who was very much a Rocastle fan.




  When asked about his thoughts on playing abroad Rocastle was clearly tempted. ‘Playing abroad definitely interests me,’ he said. ‘Over there, I could mix skill with

  hard-running aggression. Over there, I’d have more opportunity to demonstrate my skills. But that’s thinking far ahead.’




  It is no wonder that Rocastle might have been tempted by a move to Europe. Not only was that where the game’s great players plied their trade, but the financial rewards would also be

  substantial. While he was one of England’s brightest prospects, he was also one of the worst paid. A salary of £60,000 a year was decent money, but not when you compared it to the

  £175,000 Peter Beardsley was said to be earning at Liverpool. If Rocastle were to move abroad, it was thought that he stood to quadruple his salary.




  In order to counter the transfer speculation surrounding one of his star players, Graham made a move. Offering Rocastle a slightly improved four-year contract, his right-winger was only too

  happy to sign, saying as he did so, ‘Now I’ve got some points to prove for Arsenal in the weeks ahead.’




  However, soon the transfer speculation was replaced by ‘scandal’. On 21 January, the Sunday Mirror’s headline read ‘Love Child Secret Of Soccer Star’, with

  Rocastle’s picture beneath it. The article stated that the Arsenal star had not only fathered a daughter a year earlier, but that he was living apart from the mother. While the story might

  have been true, it was certainly not a scandal.




  Rocastle had been in a committed relationship with his girlfriend, Janet Nelson, for three years, ever since they had met in a club in Angel in 1987. Like most young couples, while Rocastle

  lived in Barnet, Janet continued to live with her mum and dad. It was certainly not unusual. And while Janet had given birth to their daughter, Melissa, on 5 February 1989, Rocastle had been by her

  side and had continued to be a devoted father and boyfriend. The only ‘scandal’ to be found was that Rocastle had not deemed it information he had been willing to share with the

  press.




  In any event, Rocastle tried to put the transfer rumours, and so-called scandal, behind him as his form on the football pitch failed to improve. Even a derby game against Spurs, where he usually

  thrived, saw him put in a subdued display, despite Adams giving them a 1-0 win. Marred by inconsistency, Arsenal also stuttered. Dumped out of the FA Cup by QPR, their league form collapsed, which

  saw them fall out of title contention.




  With the team seemingly having nothing left to play for, and Rocastle struggling with his knee, it was decided that he would have an exploratory operation. Worried at the prospect of missing

  the World Cup, Rocastle was reassured that he would return before the end of the season, so would have plenty of time to prove his fitness to England manager Bobby

  Robson.




  As Rocastle recuperated, Graham tinkered with his squad, selling the misfiring Niall Quinn to Manchester City for £750,000, while purchasing defender Colin Pates from Charlton for

  £500,000. When I spoke to Pates he recalled that Rocastle was the first to welcome him to the club. ‘He came up to me and said, “It’s nice to have another south Londoner

  here. We’ve got too many north Londoners. Now we can even it up a bit.” Those first few weeks he really looked after me like you wouldn’t believe. He was such a gentleman.’

  As would be seen throughout his career, Rocastle was often the first friendly face new signings encountered at a club. Just as he had been back home in Honor Oak, he was ‘the man of the

  house’, always ensuring everyone was comfortable and well looked after.




  Finally making his comeback in April, it appeared that his operation had been a success. Running more fluidly, he was soon showing much of his old form. While Graham had to treat him carefully,

  due to a lack of match fitness, he proved against Millwall that his pace had not been diminished, as he strode forward on the break, before setting Merson up to score.




  Yet time was running out for Rocastle to turn Bobby Robson’s head. With Robson due to attend the last home game of the season, against Southampton, he was desperate to make an impression.

  However, when George Graham announced the starting line-up he was crushed to be told he was only a substitute, particularly as Robson had told him before the game that if he played he was as good

  as on the plane to Italy.




  With Bobby Robson in the stand, running the rule over the six Arsenal players who could potentially figure in his squad, Rocastle sat on the bench, watching on as Southampton took the lead,

  courtesy of a Matthew Le Tissier strike. At this, the Highbury faithful chanted Rocastle’s name, prompting Graham to finally make a double change, bringing on Rocastle

  for Kevin Richardson, and Perry Groves for Brian Marwood. It was hoped that both players could inject some much-needed pace into the sterile Arsenal attack, and they soon proved to be the

  difference. With 15 minutes remaining, Arsenal won a penalty, which was duly despatched by fullback Lee Dixon; then, just seven minutes later, Rocastle stamped his authority on the game.




  As Paul Merson lobbed a high ball towards the back post, Rocastle found himself unmarked. Fishing the ball out of the air with a delicate touch he volleyed the ball past the helpless Tim

  Flowers. Clenching his fists, he muttered under his breath, ‘Come on!’ But what Rocastle wasn’t to know was that Bobby Robson had already left the stadium.




  





  
CHAPTER 4




  THE LOVE AFFAIR BEGINS




  ‘You could just see what the outcome was going to be. Dave was dedicated. He was always going to make it.’ So says Gary Hill, one of Rocastle’s oldest

  friends, known to all as ‘Ginger’. From the moment Hill first met Rocastle at Turnham Primary School, he remembers that he was totally obsessed by football. Whenever he wasn’t

  looking after his family, he would be somewhere on the estate kicking a ball around, whether it be in the school playground, local park or community centre.




  And while football was the be-all and end-all, Hill believes that there was another underlying reason for Rocastle’s obsession. ‘Growing up, he never had his dad around,’ he

  said. ‘That was tough and I think he thought football could be his way out for all of the family. He was the father in a way and he just wanted to be the breadwinner.’




  Hill also recalls that Rocastle’s talent was spotted early in his time at Turnham: ‘Me and Dave were probably the best players in school. When we were in our second year in Turnham,

  Mr Pigden came up to us and asked if we could play for the school team the following morning. Most of the boys in the school team were in the fourth year, so we would be

  playing two years up. But there was a problem – me and Dave didn’t own a pair of boots. Mr Pigden said, “You don’t need them. Just be up the field at nine-thirty tomorrow

  morning.”’




  Due to the financial constraints on the family Rocastle always struggled to afford football equipment. However, because of his obvious talent, he was never short of offers from people only too

  happy to lend or even give him what he needed.




  ‘When we turned up,’ Hill remembered, ‘there was a big box full of old-fashioned boots, ones with big toe caps, and which were ankle high. Mr Pigden said, “Pick your

  boots out of here.” So me and Dave picked a pair out and never looked back.’




  Despite wearing boots that had no doubt been out of fashion for over 20 years, Rocastle and Hill quickly became mainstays in their school team. Richard Rydzewski, the former headmaster of

  Turnham, certainly never forgot the very first time he set eyes on his school’s star player. ‘The first time I saw David was when I watched the cup final during the Easter

  holidays,’ he said. ‘I saw a young man who wanted to take part in every activity on the pitch. He was everywhere as opposed to playing in a particular position.’




  Chris Bray, a PE teacher at Turnham, also remembered the young star’s precocious skill. ‘In the first year I came to Turnham, David was in the third year, a nine-year-old. By that

  time he had grown into a big boy, and a skilful boy, much admired by all the other boys in the school. He played for the A team from the word go. By the time he got to the fourth year he was still

  a very big, physically skilful boy, who used to hold the team together.’




  Such was his prowess, and his desire to be involved in all areas of play, it was no doubt difficult for his coaches to work out what his best position was. ‘We

  wanted him to play in goal,’ Bray remembered. ‘He didn’t want to play in goal. He wanted to play centre forward. He was a prolific goalscorer. Many a time, one of the other

  teachers would come up to me after a game and say, “Who’s that centre forward?” I’d say, “David Rocastle. Remember the name, because it will be important.” And

  it was.’




  Dominating the school team, Hill and Rocastle also played for Lewisham district, as well as for their all-conquering five-a-side team, Blue Stars.




  ‘We were untouchable,’ Hill told me with a grin on his face. ‘No one could beat us. We were banging in goals for fun. We won every tournament we entered.’




  However, there was one league where the boys’ superior skill led to other teams complaining that they must be over age. As each member was called to prove their date of birth, Hill

  confidently revealed his age, only to be informed that he was 11 days too old. The team was subsequently disqualified. ‘Dave went mad,’ Hill remembered, still wincing at the memory.

  ‘We must have played over 50 games, and were two games away from finishing the season unbeaten, and they took it away from us.’




  It was at one of these tournaments that Micky Cheeseman, the manager of local junior team Vista, first saw Rocastle in action. ‘I always used to check out the competitions to see if there

  were any useful players I could get to come and play for us,’ Cheeseman told me. ‘You’d see the likes of Dennis Wise playing in them, so the standard was always high. But one day

  I saw this young kid with tremendous skill. I went over to him afterwards and asked if he was playing for anyone on a Sunday. He said, “No.” I couldn’t believe my luck.’




  As for how Rocastle learnt the stepovers and tricks that caught Cheeseman’s eye, his friend Errol Johnson credits their packed playground in Roger Manwood Secondary School. ‘There

  used to be this football game at school called pairs,’ Johnson told me. ‘Me and Dave always used to pair up and we would play against other pairs. We did that for

  about three years and we never lost a game. But the playground was always busy, full of hundreds of kids running around, so he didn’t only have to watch the players he was playing against but

  also kids who were just playing. I think that helped him a lot because he had to learn how to dribble with close control, at pace, and to change direction quickly, so he didn’t bump into

  anyone. He could dream up any kind of skill. A lot of it he didn’t practise, it was just instinct. I think the stepover was instinct. He was better than anyone I’ve seen for doing that

  at pace and changing direction.’




  Joining Micky Cheeseman’s Vista, along with his brother Steve, who played a few years below, Rocastle soon made quite an impression. ‘He was so good he could play anywhere,’

  Cheeseman enthused. ‘And I think he actually did, even in goal. But it was as a winger, or up front, where he really caught the eye. He was just far too quick and skilful for most at that

  level. He scored some incredible individual goals and I swear he gave me a hernia in training one time where he beat me with that stepover of his!’ Despite his clear talent, it was

  Rocastle’s loyalty which really struck Cheeseman. Heralded throughout the area as a player to watch, he was approached by other teams to play for them. Most of these teams had more money,

  better equipment and, in some cases, superior players. In contrast, Cheeseman readily admits that Vista was a rough and ready outfit, with many of his players from single-parent families and little

  in the way of financial or emotional support. At times, Cheeseman could have as many as eight of his players crammed into his car as he struggled to get a team out. Yet Rocastle never wavered. He

  played for Vista all the way through his teenage years and was always quick to thank Cheeseman for everything that he did, even ensuring throughout his time as a professional that match tickets

  were available for him.




  ‘He was such a loyal and lovely person,’ Cheeseman told me. ‘He never forgot anyone who helped him out.’




  This loyalty meant that, while he was a ‘lovely person’, he was also fiercely protective of his younger brother. Cheeseman recalls that when he came to watch Steve play, if anyone

  tried to take advantage of him, Rocastle would put them in their place, either vocally or, from time to time, physically. Everyone knew that if they were going to mess with Steve, then they would

  soon have to answer to his older brother. Rocastle would never go looking for trouble but he certainly wasn’t afraid to stand up for himself. A case in point saw Rocastle playing pool at the

  youth club one evening when a rumour went around that the local hardnut, ‘Chester’, was waiting outside for him.




  ‘When I heard Chester was outside I was thinking, “He wants to fight Dave? My Dave?” No way!’ Karen told me. ‘I’d never seen my brother fight at

  all.’




  Despite being goaded to go outside and fight, Rocastle continued to calmly play pool, telling Chester’s friends, ‘If he wants me, he knows where he can find me.’ Soon

  afterwards, Chester arrived in the youth club looking for trouble. He landed a punch on her brother and Karen was shocked at what happened next. ‘He didn’t back down,’ she said.

  ‘He swung back and soon they were on top of the pool table raining punches on each other.’ As everyone cheered them on, Karen was so shocked to see this side to her brother that it

  reduced her to tears. Still, she admits that she was proud he stood up for himself.




  Teenage scuffles might have been familiar rites of passage, but there was something else Rocastle had to contend with on the football pitch: racism. ‘It was horrible,’ Cheeseman

  winced. ‘We probably had more black players in our team than most, and we were good, so opposition players, and even their parents, used to try and wind the boys up. You used to hear some

  terrible things and usually we would be outnumbered, as not a lot of people came to watch us. But David never stood for it for long. He could certainly look after

  himself.’
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